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D ECE.JBER , 1873.-Referred to the Committee on Claims, and ordered to be printed. 

To the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States of America 
in Congress assembled : 

Your memorialists, the Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company of Ari­
zona, by the undersigned, their trustees, respectfully represent: That 
during the years 1864, 1865, 1866, 1867, 1868, and 1869, they were engaged 
in business at the Bully Bueno mine, sixteen miles from Prescott, the 
capital of Arizona; that they invested large sums of money in the 
purchase of goods, supplies, machinery, and necessary outfit, wagon­
traim~, and in the employment of men in the erection of buildings for 
store-rooms, business·offices, dwelling-houses, mining-machinery, and in 
the purchase of material for said buildings, and in opening mines and 
working the same, amounting in the aggregate to $426,000. 

Your memorialists were induced to engage in this enterprise by the 
officers of the United States Government, civil and military, and by the 
resident inhabitants, all of whom expressed a deep solicitude for the 
development of the country and the augmentation of the population 
and wealth. 

Your memorialists were informed by the said officers and inhabitants 
that they could safely make said investments, and engage in said busi­
ness, notwithstanding the previous unsettled condition of the country 
on account of repeated India.n depredations, as tne country was at that 
time and would continue to be under the complete protection and con­
trol of the United States Army; the commanders of the troops volun­
tarily offering your memorialists, as an inducem·ent to engage in this 
business, ample military protection, agreeing to erect a fort in the 
vicinity of and contiguous to these mines, to garrison the same, and to 
furnish guards for the defense and protection of your memoralists, their 
property and employes. 

Your memorialists further state that, in the absence of said induce­
ments and promises of ample military protection, they would not have 
made said investments, or any part thereof. They further state that, 
on account of the failure of said officers to fulfill said promises, re­
peatedly made, your memorialists lost, by depredations committed by 
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Apache Indians resicUng in Arizona, a large part of said property, a 
number of their employes were killed; and their business terminated 
on July 9th, 1869, completely destroying the enterprise in which your 
memorialists had been thus induced to engage. 

Your memorialistR further state that, in this connection, they reiterate 
their statement heretofore made December 27th, 1871, marked ''N." 

Your memorialists further state that, on the 2d day of January, 1873, 
they applied to the Department of the Interior- for compensation for 
said. losses, to which, under the laws of the United States and in justice, 
they believed they were entitled. The claim then submitted for adju­
dication was as follows, to wit: 

&hednle of pro]Jerty belonging to the Tlalnut Grope Mining Company captured or de­
stroyed by Apache Indians in Arizona. 

1855. 
Aug. 1. At Kavajo Springs, 26 mules, at $200 ....•...................... 
Aug. 23. At Mule Creek, 12 mules, at $200 ...............•..... __ ...... . 
Sept. 2. At Bully Bueno mine, 23 beeves, at $40 .........•...........•.. 
Sept. 4. At Pine Flat, 8 mules, at $200 ................................ . 
Sept. 4. At Pine Flat, 1 wagon ....................................... . 
Sept. 14. At Hnalapai Springs, 11 mules, at $200 .......•••............... 
Sept. 15. At Beall Springs, 5 mules, at $200 ............................ . 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno mine, 2,300 pounds bacon, at 50 cents ...•...... 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno mine, 9 mules, at $200 ....•....•...•........•.. 
Oct. 4. At Bnlly Bueno mine, 3 wagons, at $280 ...................... . 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno mine, 23 sets of harness, at $:30 ....••........... 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno mine, 11 cases of boots, at $50 ................ . 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno mine, groceries and provisions ......••••....... 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno mine, chemicals .............................. . 
Nov. 15 -to December 15. In the vicinity of Prescott, 100 mules, at $200 .. 

1866. 
Feb. 9. 1 house bm·ned at mine ...................................... . 
Feb. 9. 7 wagons burned at mine, at $280 ..........•••..•....•..•...... 
Feb. 9. 17 mules captured at mine, at $200 ............................ . 
Fe b. 9. Supply of provisions ..•...................................•... 
Feb. 9 to March 1. On l\fojave road, 19 mules, at $200 ....••....•.•..... 
Oct. -. At Agua Frio, 40 mules, at $200 .............•...•.............. 
Oct. -. At Agua Frio, 4 wagons, at $280 .............................. . 
Oct. -. At Agua Frio, merchandise_ .................................. . 

1867. 
Aug.-. At Bully Bueno mine, 73 mules, at $250. _ ...•................•• 

1868. 
Mar. 2. On Hassayampa Creek, 11 horses, at $100 .......•••.........•... 

1869. 
July 9. 20-stamp quartz-mill burned ......... · ......................... . 
July D. Saw-mill burned ............................................. . 
J nly 9. 1 house burned ...•....................... __ ................. . 
Jnly 9. 3housesburned, at $5,000 ................................... . 
July 9. 2housesburned, at $3,000 .................................. .. 
July 9. Stock of goods and provisions ... , .......... _ .... _ ... _ ....... . 
July 9. Chemicals and assaying apparatus ... _ ................. _ .. __ .. 
July 9. 7 mules and horses, at $100 .................................. . 
July 9. Household furniture ........ ___ ........ _ .. __ ................. . 

$5,200 00 
2,400 00 

920 00 
1,600 00 

280 00 
2,200 00 
1,000 00 
1,150 00 
1,800 00 

740 00 
790 00 
660 00 

2,600 00 
1,200 00 

20,000 00 

1,200 00 
1,120 00 
3,400 00 
1,600 00 
3,800 00 
8,000 00 
1,120 00 
7,500 00 

1 ,250 00 

1,100 00 

11 ' 000 00 
. 17,000 00 
11,000 00 
15,000 00 
6.000 00 

32,000 00 
12,000 00 

700 00 
2,000 00 

Total ................................. _.. . ____ . _ .. ___ .. 303, 330 00 
From this amount, however, there should he a deduction for those parts 

of the mill and machinery that have been saved, as statetl in letter of 
September 11, 1 69, of I. C. Cmtis, herewith, to wit .......... ___ ... _ _ 10, 530 00 

Leaving abalanceo£ ................................................ 292,800 00 

In connection with and in support of this claim for compensation 
your memorialists submitted to said Department such proof as was at 
the time attainable, a copy of which is hereto appended, marked A 
to M, inclusive. After a thorough examination of this claim and the 
evidence then submitted, Hon. B. R. Cowen, acting Secretary of the 
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Interior, on the 14th day of January, 1873, reported the case with the 
testimony to the House of Representatives, recommending "that it re­
ceive the favorable consideration of Congress." Said report, and that of 
the Commissioner of Indian .Affairs, are hereto appended, Nos. 1 and 2. 

Your memorialists further state that at the date of the presentation 
of their s.aid claim to the Department of the Interior for settlement, 
they were unable to make a complete and satisfactory statement of 
their said several losses as aforesaid, on account of the destruction of 
their books and papers by fire when their said property was burned by . 
said Indians, and their inability to find many of their employes, who 
had left .Arizona for different parts of the country, their whereabouts 
unknown to your memorialists, and their inability to avail themselves 
of the evidence of other parties cognizant of the facts. They have since 
learned that they greatly understated the actual value of the property 
thus destroyed, for example, the claim for mules captured and killed, 
at the average value of $200, whereas your memorialists have since 
learned their actual cost at the several places of purchase to be as fol­
lows: 100 mules bought of 8. S. Grant, at Saint Louis, December 7th, 
1864, at $200 each, and January 26th, 1865, 168 mules, at $250 each; 6 
mules bought of Samuel Bartlett, at Denver. Colorado, at $250 each; 
72 mules bought of Harvey Boren, at San Bernardino, California, at 
$250 each in gold, and 46 mules bought of Dr. Clark, at Los .Angeles, 
California, at $200 each in gold. 

The values of merchandise, provisions, chemicals1 tools, &c., are 
stated at the original wholesale cash price in Philadelphia, Saint Louis, 
Denver, and San Francisco. where they were purchased. Your memo­
rialists, however, are justly entitled to the actual value thereof at the 
places where the same were destroyed or taken. 

This standard of value has been adopted by tlle Department of the 
Interior in the adjustment of claims. (See rp.le 4 of regulations hereto 
attached, marked "No.3.") .According to this just and equitable stand­
ard of valuation your memorialists' claim is as follows: 

In the item of mules lost, the whole amount claimed, $67,650, is less 
than cost, whereas the amount for which we could have sold said mules, 
$400 each, in .Arizona, and which we were offered, would be $128,000, 
for which we would be entitled to recover; under nlle 4 above cited, an 
additional amount of $60,350. 

In the item of wagons, we paid L. Espenschirtt, in Saint Louis, $280 
each, and claimed for them $280 each, when they would have sold read­
il:v for $500 each in .Arizona. Under rule 4 we would be entitled to an 
additional amount of $3,300. In the item of bacon, bought in Denver 
at 50 cents per pound, as stated, it should, under rule 4, be charged at 
$1 per pound, the selling price at Prescott, making a difference in 
favor of your memorialists of $1,150. 

The harness is charged at $30 per set, the cost price at Moyer & 
Brother's, Philadelphia, where purchased; was worth, where destroyed, 
$75 per set, ma~ing a difference in our favor of $1,075. 

The item of eleven cases boots, $60 per case, their cost. price in 
Philadelphia~ would have readily sold, where destroyed, at $1.44 per 
case, making a differenc~ in our favor, under said rule, of $924. 

Groceries and provisions are estimated at cost where purchased, 
$36,200; whereas they would have sold at the time and place they were 
destroyed or.captured for at least double their cost, .making a difference 
in our favor, under said rule, of $36,200. In the item of chemicals, 
$1,200 is charged, which were worth at least $3,000 when destroyed, a 
difference in our favor of $1,800. The item of merchandise destroyed 
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at Agua Frio, for which is charged $7,500, we have since ascertained 
cost us in San Francisco, where purchased, $10,000, and were worth,. 
when destroyed, at least $20,000; so that in this item we are entitled, 
under said rule, to $12,500 additional-making in all $117,299 in excess 
of what is already stated as our claim. 

The amount of our losses sustained should therefore be stated at 
$410,099 instead of $292,800. 

In relation to the points of objection raised in the reports of the act­
ing Commissioner of Indian Affairs and Secretary of the Interior, above 
referred to, your memorialists beg leave to state: 

1st. That they were unable to present their claim for adjustment 
within three years from the date of said depredations as required by the 
law cited by them, on account of the unsettled condition of the country,. 
the destruction of their books and papers, and the dispersion of their 
employes to parts unknown, and also on account of there being no offi­
cer in Arizona before whom their claims could have been presented 
within the time specified. 

2d. The objection raised as to the allowance of $32,000 for stock of 
goods and provisions being "without the support of sufficient proof," 
your memorialists believe is now removed by the introduction of the 
affidavit of Edward Hoopes, hereto appended and marked "R," and ref­
erence to the affidavits of G. H. Vickroy, marked "A," Thomas H. 
Gibbons, marked" D," and E. W. Coffin, marked "F." 

The Commissioner's second point of objection is to the allowance of 
$118,000 for 20-stamp quartz--mill burned, and a doubt suggested by 
him as to the real value of that particular piece of property. We will 
state that in addition to the $77,000 referred to by him as the amount 
expended by lVIr. Vickroy, our first superintendent, we subsequently fur­
nished him the following sums, which were expended in prosecuting our 
said enterprise: 
January, 1864.-Clark & Stone, Leavenworth _____ ·--·._ .. ________ .-- •••. --
April, 1865.-Kuntz Brothers, Denver ... _____ .......... _._ ....... __ .. ____ ._ 
October, 1865.-J ames Tuttle, Prescott. __ .. _ . __ ..... _ ... ________ .. _ . . ____ _ 
Febr'y, 1866.-W. H. Hardy, Hardyville .... ___ ----- ____ _____ •...... __ ... __ . 
June, 1866.-Hickox & Spear, San Francisco._._ .......... _ .. _ ....... __ .. __ 
Febr'y, 1867.-From company in Philadelphia .. _. ___ ...... _ ... _ ........ ___ _ 
Febr'y, 1868.-Hickox & Spear, San Francisco .... _ ... _ ....... __ ... __ .... _._ 

Add to this the first amount furnished ________________________ . ____ .. _ .. _ . 

$12,000 
5,000 
8,700 

10,000 
14,700 
12,000 
30,000 

92,400 
77,000 

Making in all furnished Vickroy. ____ ..... __ . ____ .. ____ . __ ...... __ . _ . __ . . . 169,400 

In addition to this amount the additional sum of $127,750 was fur­
nished by us to E. W. Coffin, while he was superintendent for us. (See 
affidavit marked "S.) The Commissioner's objection to the charges for 
houses destroyed, and which he regards "as exorbitant and not suffi­
ciently supported by proof/' it is believed by your memorialists is re­
moved by the additional proof now submitted, to wit, the affidavits of 
W. M. Jensen, marked" T," and John B. Slack, marked" W." 

The Commissioner's objection to other charges which he says "should 
have been itemized, or an invoice of the same furnished," your memorial­
ists believe ought not to be regarded as conclusive against them on that 
account. 

The impossibility of furnishing an ltemized account or invoice of such 
property, suddenly destroyed without notice or warning by the incendi­
aries, consisting in part of goods, wares, and merchandise in store, which 
were being depleted by sales and replenished by purchases from time 
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to time, after the complete destruction of their books and papers, will 
readily be seen . . 

Your memorialists, therefore, think it would be a grievous hardship to 
be compelled to lose the value, amounting to a large sum in the aggre­
gate, on account of the impossibility of procuring such invoice or item­
ized account, when they are able to present, as they have done and now 
do, the best attainable evidence showing the aggregate value with rea­
sonable certainty. 

Your memorialists further state that at the time of all said depreda­
tions referred to they were lawfully within the limits of the Territory 
of Arizona and its organized counties, or traveling along its public 
highways, and that their property and works enumerated and referred 
to were not situated upon any Indian land or reservation, and that the 
said Indians were at amity with the United States. 

Your memorialists further state that they committed no offense against 
the said Indians or in any way gave cause for molestation; that they 
used more than ordinary care and diligence in guarding their property, 
and that the said losses were not on account of any neglect, careless­
ness, or fault of your memorialists or persons in charge of said property. 

Your memorialists further state that they never have, directly or in­
directly, sought or attempted to obtain private satisfaction or revenge 
from the said Indians, nor have they ever obtained compensation for 
the said damage sustained by reason of said depredations, nor any part 
thereof. 

In further support of their claim, your memorialists submit the affi­
davit of Hon. John S. Watts, marked 't No. 4," inclosing letter of Gen­
eral James H. Carleton, heretofore referred to, and also affidavits of B. 
F. Akers, marked "U," and of B. C. Peterson, marked '' V." 

Your memorialists submit that great importance should be given to 
General Carleton's letter, above referred to, guaranteeing protection, 
from the fact that he exercised supreme control over that whole coun­
try, and was the recognized authority there. He made war and peace 
with Indian tribes, built military posts and forts, and carried on the 
whole machinery of the civil and military government, and this letter 
was consistent with his whole administration while in command of New 
Mexico and Arizona, every act of which was indorsed and approved by 
the General Government; and therefore they submit that in justice and 
equity they should be reimbursed the amount of losses sustained, and 
therefore pray your honorable bodies to reimburse the said company for 
the losses sustained on account of the said Indian depredations. 

And now come the undersigned, J. Gillingham Fell, Edward Hoopes, 
and George Burnham, trustees of the Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Com­
pany of Arizona, and upon their oath state that the matters and things 
in the above memorial to Congress, in behalf of the said company, so 
far as stated from their own knowledge, are true in substance and fact; 
and so far as stated from information of others they believe them to be 
true. 

J. G. FELL. 
GEORGE BURNHAM. 
EDWARD HOOPES. 

Before me, the subscribed, a ·notary public for the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania, residing in the city of Philadelphia, personally appeared 
J. Gillingham Fell, above named, who, being duly affirmed according to 
law, did depose and say that the statement to which he had subscribed 
was just and true as he verily believes. 
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Subscribed and affirm~d before me this 12th day of August, A. D. 1873 .. 
[SE.A.L.J JNO. A. BELL, 

Notary Public. 

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYL Y Al~IA, 
City of Philadelphia, ss : 

Personally appeared before the subscriber, a notary public of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, residing in the city of Philadelphia, the 
within-named George Burnham and Edward Hoopes, and who, on being 
severally affirmed according to law, say that the above statements sub­
scribed to by them are just and true according to their best knowledge­
in the premises. 

Witness my hand and official seal this 13th day of August, 1873. 
[sEAL.] ROBERT HUTCHINSON, 

Notary Public. 

No. 1. 

DEP~RT::\IEXT OF THE IXTEHIOR, 
Washington, D. C., Janum·y 14, 1873. 

SIR: I have the honor to transmit herewith, as required by the seventh section of the· 
act making appropriations for the Indian Department, approved May 29, 1872, the 
claim of the Walnut Grove Mining Company, of Arizona, amounting to $292,800, on 
account of depredations committed by Apache Indians between August 1, 1865, and 
July 9, 1869. 

The seventeenth section of the trade and intercourse act of the 30th of June, 1834, 
requires that application for compensation for depredations shall be made to the proper 
superintendent, agent, or sub-agent, within tln'ee years after the commission of the· 
injury, or otherwise the claim shall be barred. 

The peculiar condition of affairs in _1\...rizona, it is alleged, prevented a compliance 
with the requirements of said section. 

From an examination of the papers, this Department is satisfied that the claim pos­
sesses merit, and it is respectfully submitted with the recommendation that it receive 
the favorable consideration of Congress. 

Very respectfully, &c., 

Ron. JAMES G. BLAnm, 

B. R. COWEN, 
.Acting Secretary. 

Speaker of the House of Rep1'esentatives. 

No.2. 

DErARnmxT OF THE L~TEmor:, OFFICE OF INDIAN AFFAIRs, 
Washington, D. C., Janum·y 7, 1873. 

SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt, by reference from the Department,. 
on the 2d instant, of a letter from George H. Yick.roy, dated 2d ultimo, submitting 
a claim of the Walnut Grove Mining Company, of Arizona Territory, on account of 
depredations alleged to have been committed by Apache Indians at various times, from 
August, 1865, to July 9, 1869, the loss being stated at $292,800. 

The papers in the case have been carefully examined in this office, and the conclu­
sion reached that the claim is not without merit, is justified, it is thought, by the sworn 
statements of parties who were identified with the operations of the company as em­
ployes, and who were personally cognizant, in most instances, of the facts stated 
by them. What amount of loss the company actually sustained by the direct acts of 
the Indians is a question difficult of satisfactory reply or determination. The depre­
dations were numerous, and the task of harmonizing the evidence of different parties, 
as to the particular facts in each and every instance, seems to be impracticable, espe­
cially with reference to the loss of mules or "animals." Some of the items in the claim, 
such as "stock of goods and provisions, $32,000," are without the support of sufficient 
proof, and in others the valuation is manifestly exc~s ive. It will be seen by the tes­
timony of G. H. YicJ.:1·oy, t1w fi:·K:- Raperir..tenc~e .t of tl~e comp~my, th:~t the ontflt pur-
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chased by him, consisting of a 20-starup quartz-mill, 40 horse-power engine, 26 wagons, 
268 mules and harness, provisions, tools, "&c.," cost about$77,000. With this amount 
much material apparently is procured. Referring to the schedule of property, ( accom­
panying the claim,) which, it is alle~ed, was either captured or destroyed by the In­
dians, it will be observed that the Item of "20-stamp quartz-mill burned" is for the 
sum of $118,000. A reasonable doubt arises as to this being the real value of that 
parlicular piece of property, for the presumption is that the machinery in the mill was 
the most important part of it, the cost of which may be estimated by taking Mr. 
Vickroy's statement as to the $77,000 expended for quartz-mill and other property, and 
by allowing for costs of transportation. The charges for houses destroyed are regarded 
as exorbitant and without support of sufficient proof; and oth<U" charges, which 
should have been itemized, or an invoice of the same furnished, . are deemed to be in­
admissible, from the fact that they are not so itemized; in addition, they are not well 
sustained by proof. 

I respectfully submit that the allegation of the depredations having been committed, 
as set forth in the claim, is sufficiently proven, and recommend that the case be sub­
mitted to Congress for its action. In this connection it is proper to remark,·that, nuder 
the limitation provided in the seventeenth section of the law of J nne 30, 1834, in regard 
to claims for depredations by Indians, the claim under consideration, not having been 
presented within three years, is barred. 

The letter of Mr. Vickroy, ::mel papers submitted by him, are herewith returned. 
Very respectfully, yonr obedient servant, 

H. R. CLU~I, 
Acting Cormnissione1·. 

Hon. B. R. CowEx, 
Acting Secreta1'y of the InterioJ·. 

No.3. 

4. When the application, documents, and proofs shall be received by the superintend­
ent of Indian affairs, Indian agent, or sub-agent, said officer shall carefully investigate 
the case; shall ascertain, by inquiry of reliable persons, from advertised prices, or 
otherwise, whether the prices fixed by the claimant upon the articles of property men­
tioned in the claim are just and fair as compared with the market prices ruling at the 
time in the State or Territory in which the depredation was committed, with due allow­
ance for enhancement of price by reason of transportation; and, where it is possible to 
procure it, said officer shall, if deemed advisable, take testimony as to the credibility 
of the claimant, or of any person testifying in his behalf; and also respecting the 
statement set forth in the application, documents, and proofs submitted by the claim­
ant. Upon the performance of this duty, the superintendent, Indian agent, or sub­
agent will, without unnecessary delay, present the case to the proper nation or tribe 
assembled in council, according to the custom of such nation or tribe, and after fully 
explaining it to them, he will then and there demand satisfaction for the claimant. 
If within a resonable time the nation or tribe shall not have complied with such 
demand, the fact of the depredation by some of their people being admitted in such 
council, or if they deny the charge as made and peremptorily refuse to render any sat­
isfaction, the superintendent, agent, or sub-agent will in such case submit a report of 
the proceedings had, together with all the papers, to the Commissioner of Indian Af­
fairs. Such report shall state whether the Indians in council recognized, remembered, 
and admitted the depredation charged; and if so, how far, and with what particularity 
the allega,tions of the claimant respecting such depredations were borne out by the 
recollections and acknowledgments of the Indians in reference thereto. 

5. The Commissioner of Indian Affairs will cause all claims received by him as 
above noticed to be duly registered and :filed in his office, and shall, as soon thereafter 
as practicable, cause the same to be carefully examined, and then forwarded, with a 
report of his views mHl opinion in e:teh case, to the Secretary of the Interior for the 
action of the Department. 

DgPAnT:-.mxT OF TJIR IxTrmroR, July 13, 1872. 

UNITED STATES OF A:\IEIUCA, 
District of Columbia: 

No.4. 

C. DELANO, Secl'etary. 

I, JohnS. Watts, a resiclent of Santa :Fe, Territory of New Mexico, since 20th Jnue, 
A. D. 1 51, l,y occupatio11 an attorney aml counselor-at-law, and fifty-six years of nge, 
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upon my oath state: That I was well acquainted with the situation and govern­
ment of the Territory of New Mexico, and those invested with supreme military com­
mancl of the Department of New Mexico. Upon the entrance of General James H. 
Carleton into New MexicQ, the confederate troops having retreated froni New Mexico, 
the Department of New Mexico, then including Arizona, aml El Paso County, Texas, 
was placed under the command of Brigaclier-Generai James H. Cal'leton, and martial 
law was enforced iu said department by General J. H. Carleton as it had been by his 
predecessor, General Canby, and military authority was supreme iu New Mexico during 
the time of the war of the rebellion and while General J. H. Carleton was in command 
of said department. 

I further state, that under date of Jnly 11th, 1 64, when General J. H. Carleton ad­
dressed George H. Vickroy on the subject of protection to hi · proposed purchase and 
transportation to Arizona, near Prescott, of a quartz-mill and engine and mining sup­
plies, he was then the military commander of the Department of New Mexico, including 
Arizona, New Mexico, and El Paso County, Texas; and I should have regarded the let­
ter of General James H. Carleton, a copy of which is hereto attached, marked as Ex­
hibit A, as a full and sufficient stipulation for the secure and efficient protection of 
my life aud property, should I have engao-ed in a mining venture such as was 
undertaken by the 'Valnut Grove Mining Company, under the superintendency of 
George H. Vickroy, and should have felt that, on arriving at my destination in Arizona 
and on the route there, that the fullest and most perfect protection would attend such 
an important, expensive, and useful enterprise. · And frnther saith not. 

JOHN S. WATTS. 
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, 

County of Wa8hinvton, 88: 
Sworn to and subscribed before me, this ~6 h day of February, 1 73. 
[SEAL] JAME A.· TAIT, 

Notal'!} Public. 

Copy of General J. H. Cal'leto11'8 letto·. 

HEADQUARTERS, DEPARTMEXT OF NEW MEXICO, 
Saute J!e, N. M., July 11, 1 64. 

GEORGE H. VICKROY, Esq.: 
MY DEAR SIR: In answer to your verbal question:-as to the safety of carrying on 

mining operations hereafter in Ari:r.ona, I will say I have already inaugurated a cam­
paign against the Apache Indians that will result in their complete subjugation, aud 
should you induce friends in the East to join you in erecting a quartz-mill in the newly 
discovered gold-regions near Fort Whipple, the enterprise will be fully protected by 
the military. I am well assured that building a quartz-mill there, and developing 
some one of the rich mines, will result in such benefit to the GoYernment as to amply 
compensate for the protection gh'en. 

I have the honor to be, YelT respectfully, 
JAMES H. CARLETON, 

Bl'igadiei'-Genel'al, Commanding. 

vV ASHIXGTOX, D. C., Decem bel' 2, 1t:l72. 
Sm: I have the honor to submit the following sworn statement and accompanying 

evidence concerning the claim of the ·w alnnt GroYe Gold-Mining Company, of Arizona, 
in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by you, July 13, 1872, under 
the terms of the seyenth section of the act of Congress making appropriations for the 
Indian Department, approYed May 29, 1 72. By reference to affidavits marked A, B, 
C, D, E, F, G, H, I, K, L, and M:, and the statement of the trn tf'es of said company 
marked N, and schedule of property destroyed and stolen marked 0, and letters marked 
P and Q, you will see that the last loss sustained by our company was prior to the time 
within which the above-mentioned rules and regulations require such claims to be pre­
sented to the superintendent, agent, or sub-agent, for indemnity. 

The depredations were committed between August ·1, 1865, and Jnly 9, 1869, and 
were committed by different bands of Apaches and at different times and places. 

At the time these losses were sustained by us there was no uperintewlent of Indian 
affairs, agent, or sub-agent, having jurisdiction or charge of the nation, tribe, or band 
to which these depredators belonged . 
. Although the Indians who committed these depredations are now within the pre­

sumed jurisdiction of the United States superintendent of Indian affairs, they are not 
within the actual juristliction or charge of any superintendent, agent, or snb-ageLt, 
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and it is therefore impossible for any such officers to investigate this case, or to present 
the case to the nation, tribe, or band assembled in council, or otherwise, as prescribed 
by section 4 of said rules and regulations. 

The depredations were committed within the Territory of Arizona, and not upon any 
Indian lands or reservations. 

I therefore most respectfully submit this case to your favorable consideration, and 
ask that you transmit the same to Congress, with such recommendation as, in your 
judgment, the evidence justifies. 

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
GEO. H. VICKROY, 

Superintendent. 
Subscribed and sworn before me, this 2d day of December, 1872. 
[SEAL. J J. McKENNEY, 

Notary Pttblic. 

A. 

Statement of George H. Vickroy. 

I went to Arizona in 1863, and engaged in mining. During the next year I secured 
several valuable mines, and was much m·ged and encouraged to bring a mill and the 
necessary machinery to develop them, as at this time there was no mill in the Terri­
tory. Needing more capital to render the enterprise successful, I started East to pro­
cure it; but as the settlers in that section were constantly harassed by the Indians, 
I determined that it would be dangerous to risk much money there unless I could 
obtain some guarantee of military protection. 

In July, 1864, with a view to obtain information on this point, I found General James 
H. Carleton (then in command of New Mexico and Arizona) at Santa Fe, who, in re­
sponse to my request, addressed to me a communication, saying that he had inaugu­
rated a campaign against the Apache Indians, which would result in their complete 
subjugation, and stated that if I succeeded in obtaining a quartz-mill for Arizona, the 
enterprise should be protected. With this ample assurance, I went to Philadelphia 
and negotiated with a number of gentlemen, who organized a company under the name 
of the "vValnut Grove Gold-Mining Company." Of this company I was made the gen­
eral superintendent. 

The company raised the sum of $77,000 at that time, with which I was instructed to 
pm·chase a 20-stamp quartz-mill, a 40 horse-power engine, 26 wagons, 268 mules, and 
harness, provisions, tools, &c., which about absorbed that amount. 

My train being ready, on the 28th of February, 1865, I started from Leavenworth 
City, Kans., having with me thirty-five men. 

About August 1 we were attacked at Navajo Springs, in Arizona, and lost twenty-six 
mules. The train reached Prescott about September 1, 1865. Arizona had been trans­
ferred. to the Department of the Pacific during my absence, and General Mason was 
then in command of the district. He gave me every assurance of military protection. 
My mill was the first in the Territory, and the whole community, as well as the civil 
and military authorities, were anxious to see it erected and in operation. I decided to 
put the mill on the Bully Bueno mine. General Mason gave me twenty-one soldiers to 
escort the train to the mine. The day after they joined the train the Indians attacked 
us, killed one man, and captured twelve mules. We were about two weeks in reaching 
the Bully Bueno mine, and had some fighting with these Indians every clay. 

About the 1st of September, 18l35, we reached the mine and unloaded. On that day 
the Inclians captmed our entire beef-herd of twenty-two head of cattle. The next day 
the empty train started for Prescott, the esco1·t accompanying it. When one mile from 
the mine, at Pine Flat, the Indians attacked us, killed one teamster, captured eight 
mules, aud burned one wagon. The train reached Prescott, where the military escort 
was withdrawn. The train was then en 1·onte for Fort Mojave for feed. I applied for 
an escort, but was refused. because of the scarcity of men. 

On the road to Moj:we the train was attackecl at Hualapai Springs, where the 
Indian captured eleven mules. The next day, at Beall Springs, the Indians captured 
four mules and. oue horse. I loaded the train at Fort Mojave with barley and returned 
to Prescott. 

On the military rcserYation at Fort Whipple we lost seven mules while unloading 
the train, and while in Camp Prescott, within two weeks of this time, we had about 
one lmnched mules stolen by the Indians, but I cannot give the exact dates or the 
number taken each time an attack was made, but we lost about one hundred mules r 
between November 15 and December 15, 1865. 

At the mine I had started eleven men at work on the mill, who were attacked on 
the afternoon of October 4 and drivC'n off. Some took refuge at Walnut Grove, aml 
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others at Prescott. I then employed a larger force, and again applied for troops to be 
stationed at the mill during that winter, as but few men could be engaged for that 
purpose, owing to the extreme danger, at that time, from the Indians. 

During that winter we'had about fifty mules stolen from the mills by the Indians, 
while our teams, which were freighting on the road from the Colorado River to Pres­
cott, were frequently attacked by them and lost wagons and mules. 

Prom the time I reached Arizona in September, 1865, until March, 1866, the Indians 
captured, in all, two htmdred and seven mules, which had cost from $200 to $250 each,. 
in Missouri. 

On the 9th of Pebruary the Indians attacked our camp at Bully Bueno, drove off the 
men, killed two, and wounded one. General Mason sent over a s1ugeon and a company 
of troops, who remained about one week and were withdrawn. I then increased our 
force to about forty men and left them, corning to Philadelphia in May, 1866, and 
returned to Arizona about Au~ust 1. 

During my absence the Indians had captured about twenty head of animals. In 
October, 1866, I sent from San Pecho, Cal., a train loaded with provisions, which was 
captured by the Indians at Agua Frio, ten miles from the Bully Bueno mine. Five 
teamsters were killed and about forty animals taken. 

In November, 1866, I went to Philadelphia, and as all efforts to have a military camp 
established at our mill had failed, I went to see General Grant at Washington, to 
whom I represented our situation, and who promised to instruct General McDowell 
(then commanding the Department of the Pacific) to extend uch aid to us as was pos­
sible, and to·establish a military camp at om mill. This was never done. During my 
absence at this period Maj. E. W. Coffin was superintendent of the company's opera­
tions in Arizona. 

At Los Angeles, Cal., in June, 1867, I bought about seventy head of mules and 
horses and six wagons, and loaded them with provisions and merchandise, and startecl 
them for Prescott. The train had trouble with the Indians all the way, and reached 
the mine after losing a number of animals. The clay after their arrival the Indians 
captured every animal belonging to the company, and killed the herders. This 
caused a total suspension of operations, as we could purchase no teams in Arizona at 
that time. Major Coffin abandoned the enterprise and returned to Philadelphia, I 
having in the mean time remained in San Prancisco. 

On hearing of this disaster I at once went to Prescott, and applied to General Gregg 
for soldiers to protect the property, but without result. I employed a force of men to 
guard the mill, and left them there dming that winter, and came to Philadelphia. 

During the following March, 1868, I returned to Prescott, and as the men I had left 
were unwilling to remain longer, I made an application to General Devin (then com­
manding the district) for soldiers, representing that I could not secme an adequate 
force of men to protect the property. He could spare no soldiers, so I employed thir­
teen men, which were all I could obtain for that pmpose, and left the mill in thei:e 
charge. We had about eleven head of mules and horses stolen by the Indians about 
this time, March 2, 1868, on the Hassayampa, while en 'route to "\Vickenbmgh. The In­
<lian troubles now became so great that we could not carry on operations, and our only 
object was to guard the property from destruction. These men remained in charge 
until July 9, 1869, when a large force of Indians attacked the premises and bnrnecl 
the mill, store-house, saw-mill, superintendent's house, bom·cling-house, blacksmith and 
carpenter shops, and stables, destroying the machinery, tools, and supplies, together 
with all of the books, papers, and accounts. 

The expense incmred by the company up to this time had arnon,nted to $292,800. I 
was their general superintendent from the time of its organization up to the time of the 
destruction of the mill. 

I am well assured that this enterprise would have never been undertaken had it not 
been for the military protection which was promised, and I am satisfied that if that 
protection had been afforded my operations in behalf of the company would have been 
entirely successful. 

GEO. H. VICKROY. 
Subscribed and sworn to before me, January 6, 1872. 
[SEAL.] R. J. MEIGS, Clerk. 

By R. J. MEIGS, JR., Assistant Cle1·k. 

B . 

.Affidarit of Jarnes ..d.. Flanagan. 

I, James A. Flanagan, of Johnstown, Pennsylvania, being thirty-five years of a~e~ 
upon being duly swom, depose and say, I assumed the superintendence of the 
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Bully Bneno mine and mill, situated on Turkey Creek, within sixteen miles of Pres­
cott, Arizona, on the 15th clay of March, A. D. 1868. At that time the Indians were 
very hostile, daily committing depredations in that vicinity. I applied to General 
Devin, commanding that district, for military protection, as there was a large amoun 
of valuable property at the mill, and I could not employ a sufficient number of citizens 
to protect it, owing to the extreme danger of Indians. General Devin frequently told 
me he was well aware of the necessity of a stronger guard at the mill, but being short 
of men, could not spare any soldiers, but promised from time to time to send me an 
adequate $uard, so soon as he could possibly spare troops from Fort "Whipple. I made, 
through capt. J.P. Hargrave, of Prescott, the company's attorney, frequent applica­
tions to the commander of the district for military protection, as the danger became 
more imminent. I kept at the mill as strong a force of citizens as I could possibly em­
ploy all the time. The working force at the mill and mine was from forty to seventy 
men. On the 9th day of July, 1869, the Indians attacked the premises in force, and 
compelled ns to abandon the place and seek refuge at Prescott, sixteen miles distant, 
the nearest military post, after which they burned the buildings, consisting of a mill­
building, 160 by 200 feet square, a saw-mill and building, carpenter-shop, blacksmith­
shop, store-house, boarding-house, superintendent's house, and all the merchand\se and 
provisions; also the wagons, harness, tools, &c. These buildings were all large 
:fine houses. Nothing whatever escaped destruction in this attack which could be­
burned except what merchandise and stock the Indians carried off. I bad entir 
uperintenclence of the books and accounts during this time, which were all burned. 

The company had expended in this enterprise a fraction over $292,000. The Bully 
Bueno mine is one of the best on the Pacific coast, anu would if worked yield a very 
large product of gold. The mine is well opened and developed, and will furnish au 
inexhaustible amount of rich pay rock. This was the principal ruining enterprise in 
Arizona, and its destruction was a calamity to the whole Territory. 

JAMES A. FLANAGAN. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me, at Johnstown, Pennsylvania, this thirtieth day 
of October, A. D. one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one. 

[ EAL.] GEORGE T. S'VENCK, 
Prothonotct1'Y of District CoU?·t of Cambria Cou~tfy. 

c. 

A.tfirlm:it of A. H. Boomer. 

The tmclersigned, A. H. Boomer; am thirty-seven years old. I was employetl by G 
H. Vickroy as wagon-master in F ebruary, 1865, to take a mule-train, consisting of 
twenty-six wagons hauled by ten mules each. I arrived at Prescott, Ariz., in 
August, 1865, with the train, and was furnished by General Mason, then commanding 
that district, a military escort, who remained with the train about two weeks, and 
until I arrived at the Bully Bueno mine, during which time we were attacked three 
times by Indians. The wagons under my charge were loaded with a 20-stamp quartz­
mill weighing 96,000 pounds, and about 60,000 pounds of tools, provisions, &c. After 
unloading the train I was directed by the superintendent of the company to go to­
Fort Mojave, one hundred and sixty miles distant, for barley, and applied at Fort 
Whipple for a military escort, but was unable to procure one. On my way to Fort 
Mojave was attacked twice by Hualapai Indians in large force, and lost fifty-seven 
mules and two horses, and was compelled to abandon four wagons. vVe struggled 
along through the winter, making every effort to erect the mill and haul in feed and 
supplies, but every team stationed at the mill was run off by Indians, and in March,, 
1866, Mr. Vickroy, the superintendent, became discouraged, and as he could neither 
employ citizens to protect the property, nor obtain military protection, I was directed 
to take the train to California, consisting then of only six wagons and :fifty-thre 
mules, the balance all having been captuTed by the Indians. Mr. Vicluoy overtook. 
me on the road in California, accompanied by fonT of the men who had been employed 
guarding the property at the mine, and reported that the Indians had attacked the­
premises, driving off the force of eleven men and killing four, and burning the two 
houses. We sold the remainder of the train to William H. Hardy, and :Mr. Vickroy 
and myself came to New York. 

ALEXANDER H. BOOMER. 

Sworn to and subscribetl before me, this 27th day of November, 1871. 
[SEAL.] JOSEPH BROWNE, 

Clerk of Court_ 
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D. 

Affidavit of ThornaB H. Gibbons. 

"The lmdersigned, Thomas H. Gibbons, whose residence is Elgin, Illinois, testifies as 
:':follows: I was employed by G. H. Vickroy, at Denver, Colo., in May, 1865, to go to 
Arizona with the quartz-mill belonging to a Philadelphia company known at that 
time as the Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company, as book-keeper. I joined the mule­
-train, consisting of twenty-six wagons, at Grey's Ranch, in Colorado, and traveled 
with the train to the Bully Bueno mine, situated sixteen miles from Prescott, Ariz .. 
The first attack made upon the train by Indians was at Navajo Springs. A large force 
·-of mounted Indians attacked the herd while grazing a mile from the wagons, but in 
plain sight, while we were eating dinner, drove off the six Mexican herders, captuTed 
nineteen mules and killed seven. This was about the 1st of August, 1865. We reached 
.ceamp, six miles below Prescott, about September 1, 1865. There General Mason sent 
the train an escort of twenty-one men. We then proceeded on across the mountain 

-to the Bully Bueno, which took about two weeks, as we had to build a road. At Mule 
Creek, seven miles from the Bully Bueno, about September 10, the Indians made an 
attack, killing one teamster and stealing twelve mules. 'rhe clay we reached the 
mine, about September 21, the beef-herd, consisting of about twenty cattle, was taken, 
.and on the next day, as the train was going back to Prescott, they captured an eight­
mule team and burned the wagon, at Pine Flat, one mile from the mill. Our military 

·-escort went back to Fort Whipple at this time. Eleven men were left at the mill, 
which was in course of erection, who were dTiven off by Indians about October 4. 
We employed another and stronger force composed mostly of the teamsters who came 
·through from the Missouri River with the train. We applied for soldiers to assist in 
.guarding the mill, but could get none, as General Mason was carrying on a very vigor­
()ns campaign against the Indians that winter, and could not spare any men, but 
promised to protect us by spring. In January, 1866, Mr. VickToy left me in charge, as 
he had to go to Philadelphia. Up to this time I had been in the office of the company 
in Prescott. I then employed five more men, deeming the force at the mill too small 
-to protect it, and went there myself. I employed every man I could hire to go to the 
mine. On the 9th of February, 1866, a large force of Indians, probably two hundred, 
:attacked the men, who were quartered in two houses, killed one man and wounded two 
()thers, one fatally, took seven mules and three horses from the stable, and burned one 
()f the houses. The men retreated to Prescott, where I had gone the day before on 
business. I applied to the post for aid, and the commander sent a surgeon and a com­
-pany of troops to the mill, but they did not remain a week. This was the second and 
last assistance the company ever got from the military while I was in the country. I 
then employed about twenty more men who had just come in from Montana. In 
1\_ugust, 1866, Mr. Vickroy returned with Maj. E. W. Coffin, who took charge of the 
·-enterprise and sent me to California for a load of provisions, mining-materials, &c. I 
bought about $10,000 worth, and with seven teams, of ten mules each, started from 
,San Pedro about October 1, 1866. At Fort Rock, seventy miles from Prescott, we were 
attacked by not less than a hundred and fifty Indians and lost thirteen mules. We 
had trouble every day then, until, within ten miles of the mine, the Indians killed 
four teamsters and took all the stock. I then remained at the mine a year longer. In 
the August following, (1867,) Major Coffin, who had been to Phil'1clelphia, came in with 

. .a fine mule-train. The day after the train arrived at the mill the Indians killed one 
herder and captured every mule and horse belonging to the company. We were 
:all ready to go to crushing ore at that time and everything looked promising. We 
then had a force, of about seventy men, nearly all of whom had been there a year. 

'The loss of the stock made it impossible to do anything that winter, and as Major 
Coffin had made many applications for troops to no purpose, he gave up the enterprise 
and went to Philadelphia, leaving twelve or fifteen men to guard the property. I came 
to Illinois that fall, where I have remained ever since. I have spent ten years in gold 
mines, and at one time had a mill in Colorado, and feel sm·e that had it not been for 
Indians the Bully Bueno, which is the best mine I have ever seen, would have been a 
.great success. I kept all the accounts for two years and know that the company spent 
over $290,000 upon this enterprise. I have frequently heard and seen it stated in sev­

. eral newspapers that the mill and all the buildings were burned by Indians in July, 
~869. 

THOS. H. GIBBONS. 

Swom to and subscribed before me, this 7th day of December, 1871. 
JOHN G. GINDELE, 

C lak County Com·t of Cook County, Illinois. 
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E. 

Affidai•it of Thomas Rich. 

Deponent is thirty-four years old; born at Milwaukee, Wisconsin; resides at 162 ; 
Halstead street, Ch~cago. I was employed at Leavenworth City, Kans., on the 17th 
of January 1865, by G. H. Vickroy, superintendent of the Wahmt Grove Gold-Mining· 
Company, and remained in their employ until August, 1869. We left Leavenworth on 
the 23d February, 1865, with a mule-train consisting of twenty-six ten-mule teams •. 
About the 1st of Angust, 1865, at Navajo Springs, Ariz., the train was attacked by In­
dians, resulting in the loss of twenty-six mules. At the Point of Rocks, six miles from 
Prescott, a military escort of twenty-one men joined the train. We were attacked 
several times by the Indians, and had one teamster killed and twelve mules stolen 
between there and Bully Bueno mine. We there unloaded the machinery and mer­
chandise. On the way back to Prescott the Indians captured one wagon and team of 
eight mules. About the 1st of November, 1865, we started for Fort Mojave, to bring 
in a load of feed and supplies. I went with the wagon-master, A. H . Boomer, to the 
commanderof the post at FortWhlpplefor a military escort, which wasrefused us. At 
Hualapai Springs the Indians attacked us and captured eleven loose mules. At Beall 
Springs we were again attacked, losing four mnles and one horse. We returned with 
the train to Prescott abont the middle of December, 1865. We again applied for a mili­
tary escort and were again refused. The train went back to Fort Mojave. I was in 
Prescott when the :first party was driven away from the mill at the Bully Bueno mine, 
about the 4th October, 1865. I was at the Bully Bueno on the 9th February, 1866 •. 
when the Indians drove us off and killed two of our party and burned one of th ' 
houses. I was with Thomas H. Gibbons about the 20th of October, 1866, at Fort Rock~ 
when the Indians attacked a train of six wagons, which the company had sent in from 
San Pedro, California. In that :fight we lost thirteen mules and had one man fatally 
wounded. Gibbons and I left the train at Prescott, and went across the mountain t() 
the mill by the trail. The train went round by the wagon-road, and was all captured 
and :five men killed when within t en miles of the Bully Bueno. There were seven :fine· 
buildings erectell at the mine, a mill building, 160 by 200 feet, a saw-mill, a blacksmith 
and carpenter shop, a store-house, and three dwelling-houses. I was there in Augu t , 
1867, when MaJor Coffin came in from California with a mule-train of about sixt~­
mules, which were all capturell by the Indians the day after his arrival. While I wa 
in Arizona the Indians killed seventeen men employed by the company, and captured 
or killed about two hundred mules, and burned about ten wagons belonging to the 
company. On the night of the 9th of July, 1869, the Indians attacked the premises, 
then in charge of James A. Fbnagan, and drove off the entil:e force and burned every 
building at the place, together with all the wagons, out-buildings, lumber, &c. 

I have had seYeral years' experience in the gold mines of Colorado, New Mexico, and 
Arizona. I think $300,000 is a low estimate of the losses of this company in Arizona 
by Indian depredations. 

THOMAS RICH. 
Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 7th day of December, 1871. 
[SEAL.] JOHN H. PECK, 

Nota1·y P11blia~ 

F. 

Staternent of Edww·d W. Coffin, of Carnclen Cowzty, State of Kcw Jersey. 

In May, 1866, I was appointed superintendent of the ·walnut Grove Gold-Mining Com-,­
pany, of Turkey Creek, Yavapai County, Territory of Arizona, and on the 1st June fol­
lowing left New York for San Prancisco, en 1·oute for that place, to assume charge of the 
company's 11rovertr; Mr. George H. Vickroy, the former superintendent, accompanied 
me. At Los Angeles, Cal., we purchased the necessary teams, provisions, &c., for 
the journey, and about the :first of the following August reached our destination. 
Having completed the necessary arrangements I ilnmediately commenced the erection 
of a 20-stamp quartz-mill, which had been previously brought into the Territory by 
Mr. Vicluoy, with the necessary buildings, &c., which were :finished about the close of 
the year, notwithstanding we were almost daily troubled by the Indians, (Apaches, ) 
in killing men, running off stock, harassing our supply-trains, &c., and which cau ed 
a vast increase in the cost of onr enterprise. As they had stolen a large part of the 
stock in that part of the Territory, as well as our own, it was impossible for me to ob­
tain teams to haul rock to t,he mill, and obliged me to return East and obtain more 
money to enable me to purchase another outfit of teams, wagons, &c., in Calif0111ia , 
and to supp1y our mill. With that object I started East about the 1st January, 1867 . 
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When I first asRnmed charge of the mine I was assured we shouhl receive military pro 
tection, and while I was in Arizona I made numerous applications and had as many 
promises of protection from the military authorities, but with the exception of one 
escort for two or three days, I never succeeded in obtaining the least protection. In 
;the fall of 1866, sometime before starting East, I addressed a 6omnmnication to Lien­
tenant-General Grant, which was indorsed by influential parties in Philadelphia, 
urgently requesting that a military camp might be formed in the vicinity of the mill 
for our protection. This letter was presented to General Gr::J,nt by Mr. Vickroy, and I 
have understood he instructed General McDowell, then in command of the Department 
of the Pacific, to establish such a camp ; but it was never done and we had to depend 
-entirely upon ourselves. After obtaining the necessary means, I again left New York 
for Arizona on the 11th April, 1867. On my arrival at Los Angeles I pmchased a large 
number of animals, wagons, provisions, &e., and started for the mines, where we 
:arrived early in August. The train was very much annoyed by Indians on the way, 

.. ..and the day after om arrival the herd was attackecl within less than half a mile of the 
mill, but by the vigilance of the herders the Indians were driven off. A few days 
:afterward, however, while grazing on the company's farm, the herd which I had brought 
in, with other animals belonging to the company, were driven off and the herder killed. 
This unfortunate occurrence placed us in as bad a condition as we were when I left for 
the East the previous January, and discouraged the company from again purchasing 

.stock and pursuing the enterprise. I returned East in August, and soon after ended 
my connection with the company. 

I have no means of knowing the exact amount of money expended by the Walnut 
Grove Gold-Mining Company in this enterprise, but I have every reason to believe it 
is about $300,000. 

I understand it is the intention of the company, in case the Government grants their 
.:application for relief, to expend the money so received in developing the mine, erect­
ing new machinery, &c.; and I have no doubt, from my knowledge of the property, the 
enterprise will be a complete success; and as there has been a new settlement made 
within a few miles of it, the company can develop their property in comparative safety, 

.and from the number of men employed at the mine it will be the means of saving the 
Government large sums of money in the maintenance of troops in that vicinity. 

I am entirely satisfied in regard to the value of the mine, and believe it to be one of 
the best on the Pacific coast, and if properly developed, which it will be if this relief 

.is granted, the Government will be amply repaid for all its expenditure. In my 
Qpinion it is nothing more than justice that the company should be compensated for 

:its losses, for I am quite confident the money would not have been expended if they 
had not had full assurance of .protection from the Indians. 

E. ·w. COFFIN . 

.Sworn and subscribed to before me, this 27th day of December, A. D. 1871. 
[SEAL.] J. A. LOUGHRIDGE, 

Prothonotm·y. 

G. 

Affidavit of Richarcl Gird. 

I, Richard Gird, residing in the city of San Francisco, State of California, being 
duly sworn by Lorenzo S. B. Sawyer, clerk and commissioner of the United States 
circuit court of the ninth circuit, district of California, depose as follows: That I was 
in Prescott in September, 1865, when G. H. Vickroy arrived with a mule-train of 
wagons from the Rio Grande freighted with mining-tools, mill, machinery, and pro­
visions. The mule-train, wagons, and outfit were the finest and largest I have ever 
een in the Territory. It was common report that the train had been many times 

:attacked by Indians; that, after much trouble, perseverance, and hardship, the mill 
had been located at the Bully Bueno mine, when the Indians beca~e so dangerous 
and troublesome, stealing the stockandattacking themen, that the partyincharge, con­
sisting of some eighteen or twenty men, abandoned the mine, putting into the boilers, 
through the man-holes, what property they could, and burying or cacheing the whole, 
consisting of three 32-inch Teale cylinder boilers, thirty-two feet long, engine, mill, ma­
chinery, provisions, tools, powder, &c. Military protection could not be obtained. 

I was at ~hat time collecting data for my map of Arizona, and the Indians were so 
bad, and fast becoming more daring and better armed, and consequently more dan­
gerous, that I abandoned it in the fall of 1865 and retmned to San Francisco. 

The next season Major Coffin, who came out as superintendent of the Bully Bueno 
mine, suffered heavy loss, great inconvenience, and delay from Indian depredations. 
He had a wagon-train conveying supplies from Prescott to the mine attacked, the 
.teamsters killed, and prC~perty destroyed.. 
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I went to Arizona in the Pmploy of the company in 1867 as smTeyor, and in the 
company of Mr. Vickroy and Mr. Harlan. On the road from San Bernardino to Pres­
cott reports continually reached us of Inclian hostilities. vVhen we reached the 
Bully Bueno mine and mill we found that the stock had been rnn off by Indians, 
and that Major· 'Coffin had been compelled to suspend operations. "\Ve found the mill 
guarded by citizens, employed by the company, who wherP in continual dread of 
attacks. I weut 'Yith Mr. Vickroy to General Gregg, then commanding the clistrict, for 
Rollliers to assist in guarding the property. General Gregg said that he had no men to 
Rpare from Fort Whipple, and citizens could not be employed in sufficient numbers to 
be effective. 

The property at the mine consistNl of the mill-building, with machinery for reduc­
ing ore, all in running order, circular saw for sawing lumber, dwelling-house, board­
ing-house, powder aml tool house, and other buildings, both at the mine and mill. 

I have no hesitation in saying that the failure of the enterprise was owing to Indian 
Jw tilitics and the con eqnent insecurity of life and property in that exposed situation; 
that the loss of the com1)an~r mnst have been very heavy, and the final destruction of 
the mill in 1869 is a dP-ath-blow to the enterprise for the present; that if it had not 
hern for the irupossibility of the company's prosecuting the \York on account of Indian 
ho tilities and vmnt of military protection, the mill would have paitl hauclsomely 
from the beginning. 

RICHA11D GIRD. 

Subscribed and worn to before me, this 16th day of January, .A.. D. 1872. 
[SEAL.] L. S. B. SAWYER,· 

Cle1·k and Commissioum· United States Ci1'ouit Cotw·t, 
Ninth CiTouit, Dist1·iot Califor1tia. 

H. 

A.ffidarit of Charles Ha1·lan. 

I, Charles Harlan, residing in San Francisco, am twenty-five years of age, and am 
employed in the custom-house as examiner of weighers' returns. I went with G. H. 
Vickroy, general superintendent of the Bully Bueno mine, in August, 1867, to Aii­
zona. On our way there we were much annoyed by Indians, and heard of their poison­
ing the water in advance of us. When we reached Hardyville we heard of so many 
attacks having been made between there and Prescott that we waited several days, 
until a sufficiently large party could be made up to ma,ke traveling safe. Mr. Vickroy 
1)rocured two more horses at Hardyville, which, in addition to the fom we were driv­
ing, made team enough to haul feed and provisions for the whole party. On arriving 
at Prescott we found the country so overrun, and in the power of the Imlians, as 
to preclude the possibility of starting up the mill, which had been forced to stop by 
the attacks of the Indians, and that Mr. Vickroy's mule-trains, which were the finest 
in the Territory, had fallen a sacrifice to the distmbed condition of the country. Mr. 
Vickroy could not replace his mules, as there were no animals for sale in the country. 
He appealed to General Gregg for troops to guard the mill, but General Gregg was not 
ahle to spare them. Mr. Vickroy then employed what men he could to guard the mill 
and other building , and he and myself returned to California, after being absent sev­
«>ral months, and fully convinced that thenumberof solcliersin the Territory was totally 
inadequate to the protection of life and property. Mr. Vickroy had intended to run 
his mill that winter, and prepared to do so at a very heavy expense, but the loss of his 
mule-trains made it impo sible to replace them. 

CHARLES HARLAN. 

Suhscribed and sworn to hefore me, this 16th day of January, A. D. 1872. 
[SEAL.] L. S. B. SAWYER, 

Clerk and Commissionm· United States Cironit CouTt, 
Kintlt Ci1·ouit, District California. 

I. 

.. J.fficlarit of Cha1·les Allmendinger. 

I, Charlrs Allmrnclingcr, am twenty-seven years of age; reside at No. 434 North 
Second street, Philadelphia. 

On Pt>brnary 12, 1867, I left New York for Arizona with G. H. Vickroy, by whom I 
was employed as assayer. We arrivedinArizona about the middle of April. I remained 
in Arizona one year. During the time I was there the Indians committed depredations 
nearly every week. We had no protection from the military authorities, though we 
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were frequently promised aid. There were eleven of our men killed while I wu there 
Wbile I was there the Walnut Grove Mining Company sustained heavy losses from 
Indian depredations, losing a great number of mules and horses. 

I was also with G. H. Vickroy in Los Angeles and San Bernardino, where he bought 
mules, paying $200 each in gold. These same mules were afterward captured or kille<.l 
by the Inclians while I was in the Territory. The country being overrun by Indians,. 
it was impossible to carry on successful mining operations without the aid of the mili­
tary. 

Although strenuous efforts were made by the military to suppress Indian depreda­
tions, they clidnot succeed. Had the military been succe. sfnl the losses of our com­
pany would have been inconsiderable. Had it not been for the Indians this mining 
enterprise would have been a great success, and been the means of developing that 
whole district of country. 

I left Arizona in April, 1868, owing to the danger from Imlians. I have been well 
informed as to the condition of things in Arizona since I le£t there, and heard of the 
burning of the mill and other buildings soon after it occurred in July, 1 69. 

From what I have seen of mining operations I do not think the losses of this com­
pany at the Bully Bueno mine were less than $300,000. 

I have been employed by two other companie as assaycr. The Bully Bueno mine,. 
if successfully worked, is considered the best in Arizona,. 

CHAS. ALL~IENDINGER. 
Sworn and subscribed before me, prothonotary of the court of common plea , thi 

14th day of December, 1871. 
[SEAL] J. A. LOUGHRIDGE, 

Pl'othonofal'y Court of Common P leas. 

K. 

.Affidarit of Richarcl C. Bates. 

Richard C. Bates, of Haddonfield, Camden County, New Jersey, upon first being duly 
sworn, deposes and says: I am thirty-five years of age; I left Philadelphia on the lOth 
day of April, 1867, in the employ of Ma,j. E. W. Coffin, superintendent of the Walnut 
Grove Gold-Mining Company; my destination being the Bully Bueno mine, sixteen. 
miles from Prescott, Ariz., where the said company was carrying on mining, and 
had erected a 20-stamp quartz-mill, and six other buildings. Major Coffin bought a 
mule-train in California, of which I took charge, and started, with three wagons, from 
San Pedro, on the 21st day of June, 1867. These wagons were loadecl with about 
$11,000 worth of merchandise. I experienced a great deal of trouble on the road to 
Prescott from Indians, as they had poisoned some of the water-holes on the road aml 
made several attacks, and we were greatly delayed on the trip. I arrived with the train 
at the Bully Bueno mine on about the 6th of August, 1867. The next day we had a 
fight with Inclians at the mill. I then took the mules, and also the horses that were 
at the mill, to the company's farm, where, on the 13th of August, 1867, the Indians 
attacked us, killed one man, and drove off all the stock. I was on herd that day my­
self. The Indians were hanging around the mill all the time, stealing every article 
chancing to be within their reach, and killing men and running off stock during all 
the time I was there. It was impossible to travel, haul in supplies, or work the mine 
without military protection, which the company never got while I was in Arizona. 
Major Coffin was totally unable to purchase any teams to carry on the work, without 
going back to California; and as he had never been able to secme military protection 
he had scarcely any hope of keeping any stock at that time. He went to Philadelphia 
in August, 1867, leaving about fifteen men to guard the mill. I remained there in the 
employ of the company. We did not attempt to work the mine that winter, as it was 
necessary for all the force ;:~.t the mill to protect it, and even then we never felt safe. 
No further work was carried on. It was very difficult to employ men to guard the mill, 
as the Indians were getting more dangerous every day, emboldened by their many 
successes. On the 9th of July, 1869, they attacked the mill, and the party stationed 
there being too small to hold out against the Indians, they drove off the force, some 
going to Prescott and some to Walnut Grove. They bmned the mill and all the other 
buildings, and destroyed all the property they (lid not carry off. I retmned to my 
present residence in 1 ~G!l. 

Witnesses: 
EDWARD C. Sm~~N, 
ROBERT BATES. 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY, Carnden County, ss : 

RICHARD C. BATES. 

Sworn ancl subscribed by the said Richard C. Bates before me, this 18th clay of De­
cember, A. D. 1871. ·witness my hand and official seal. 

[SEAL.] JOHN W. CAIN, Clerk. 
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L . 

.Affidavit of E . Winslow Co.ffin. 

E. \Vinslow Coffin, residing at Glendale, Camden County, New Jersey, upon first be­
ing lluly sworn, deposes and says: I was employed. in May, 1866, by the "'Walnut Groye 
Gohl-Mining Company of Arizona as book-keeper. My father, Edward vV. Coffin, being 
superintendent, I accompanied him to that Territory, arriving there about Augu t 1, 
1d66. Previous to our leaving Philadelphia the superintendent was instructed to pro­
ceed to investigate the case, all(l if, in his opinion, it was safe to erect the mill ancl 
prosecute the operations of the company, to do so; if not, to store the machinery, mer­
chandise, &c., belonging to the company. After due consultation "-ith the military 
'and civil authorities of the Territory, and upon full assurance that we were to be pro­
tected by the military force of the district, we commenced the erection of the mill. 
The superintendent reported to the company in Philadelphia that he had secured 
promises of protection that satisfied him, and, as the mine was rich and the facilities 
for ·working it good, he would proceed to operate the enterprise at once. He llrew on 
the company for moneys, and sent to San Francisco for a full stock of provisions, chem­
icals, supplies, mules, wagons, &c. In the mean time we employed a force of about 
forty meu, and commenced the erection of the mill and other necessary buildings. \V e 
depended upon pack-animals to supply us until the supplies from San Francisco arrived. 

Scarcely a week passed that we were not molested by Indians, and all this time mak­
ing earnest appeals to the commander of the district for protection, aml received many 
promises of aid. One train, when within ten miles of the mill, was attacked by In­
dians, and three temnsters killed and the \\hole train captured. I spcut two " ·ceks 
riding OYer the country endeavoring to employ teams to haul our ore to the mill, ·which 
was then ready to commence crushii1g, and succeeded in securing teams at two different 
times, but on both occasions Indians prevented the fulfillment of their coutractR. It . 
was impossible to get the ore to the mill (half a mile) without teams. After all these 
disastrrs, and the faihue to establish a military camp at our mill, Edward \V. Coffin 
came East, leaving me in charge of the enterprise. He returned in the following July, 
having secm·ed more mean. to prosecnte the enterprise. During the superintell(lent's 
absence several ml'n were killed, and all-our mnles and horses captnretl by Indian!". 
A few days after his return the superintendent returned to Philadelphia again, and 
left me to run the mill dming his absence. I had thirty-four head of mules and horses, 
bnt within two days 8fter his departure the Imlians attacked and capturetl every one 
of them, and killed the herd rs. Mter this misfortune I employed nine men and left 
them in charge of the mill, and started to S~tn Francisco to put myself in communi­
cation with the company. Soon after I was ordered to return, and arrived in Phila­
delphia in November, 1867. The expenses of the company were about $300,000, antl 
the buildings erected at the Bully Bueno mine, and which were burned July 9, 1869, by 
Indians, were very yaluable. 

E. WINSLO\V COFFIN. 
Sworn antl subscribed before me, this 28th day of 1\L.""Ly, 1872. 
[sJuL.] J. A. LOUGHRIDGE, 

Pl'otlwuotal'y of tlle Coul't of Common Pleas fol' tlw City mul County of Philadelphia. 

:L\1 • 

.J.O'idavit of 8. S . Grant. 

S. S. Grant, of Saiut Louis, Mo., being duly sworn, deposes and says: On De­
CC'mber 7, 1864, I sold to George H. Vickroy, superintendent of the ·walnut Grove Gold­
Mining Company, of Arizona, one hm1clred mules at $200 each, four mules at $250 each, 
three horses at $250 each, and one horse at $200, and one horse at $275; that said mules 
:tll(l horses were fully worth the amounts paid to me; and that after I made said con­
tract to dcliwr said stock to George H. Vickroy I could have sold the same for more 
moucy, as prices were daily advancing. That on January 26, 1865, I sold to George H. 
Vickroy the balance of the mules for the said company, to transport their wagons to 
Arizona, at $250 each, and that nll of the saicl mules were fully worth the prices paid 
lly saitl compauy to me at the time of said sales. 

S. S. GRANT. 
Sworn to an(l subscribed before me, this the 9th day of November, 1872. 
[SEAL.] ·wASHINGTON HENDRICKS, 

Xotary Public of Saint Louis County, Jfi.~souri. 

H . Mis. 16--2 
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N. 

To tltc lwuorable tlte Senate cuul House of Representatires of the l:nitecl States in Congress 
assemblecl : 

Your pctitionerl'l, cHizens of the States of Pennsylvania and New Jersey, respectfully 
represent that they are the trustees of a mining company organized in the 3•ear 1864, 
and known at that time as the ·walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company, of Arizona. The 
individuals composing said company having, at the time above mentioned, full writ­
ten assurances from General James H. Carlton, then commanding the Military District 
of Arizona and New :Mexico, that should we send to the Territory of Arizona a quartz­
mill, machinery, supplies, &c., for opening and working our mines, we should have 
ample militar~- protection and support, as at that time the Government of the United 
States, ns well as the citizens of the Territory, were anxious to aid and assist any en­
terprise looking to the settlement of the country and the development of its rich min­
eral resources, at heavy expense, as the accompanying affidavits and papers will 
show, we equipped an expedition mof'!t thoroughly with everything necessary to insure 
the success of the enterprise. 

Our quartz and saw mills, steam-engine, boilers, mule-train, &c., &c., finally arrived 
at its destination in September, 1865, sixteen miles from Prescott, the then seat of gov­
ernment of the 1'erritory. Up to this date our expenditures had been about $100,000, 
exclusiyc of thr mines and lands upon which the mills and other improvements were 
locatrd. 

And we further represent that ouT agents had repeated assurances of military pro­
tection from the seYeral military officers who commanded that district during our 
efforts to maintnin our operntions there, and that said assurances of protection from 
Imlian 1lepredations imluced us to continue to contribute money from time to time, 
tluri:ng four )·cars, as often as the Indians robbed us of our property and obstructed our 
operationf'!, until July 9, A. D. 1869, when the Indians made their final attack, driving 
otr the men in charge of the property, and burning the mill and other buil{lings, to­
gether with all the wagons, mining-tools, chemicals, and supplies, which, at that time, 
hatl cost the company about $300,000. 

Your petitioners further represent that they would not haYc umlertaken this enter­
prise in the first instance but for the guar·antee of protection from the then district 
commander, nor would we haYe continuecl to expend our means after each succeeding 
Indian raid but for the renewed assurances of protection from the military authori­
ties in Arizona. And we fm-ther represent that we now desire to resume operations at 
our mines, aml that a :flourishing settlement has grown up in that vicinity, (the set­
tlers having been attracted there by the wealth of newly-discovered gold-mines,) and 
that we now feel safe in rebuilding and commencing operations. And we further re­
spectfully represent that a number of the original subscribers to this enterprise in­
vested all they could command in it, on the strength of the assnrances of the protection 
above recited, aml arc 1mable to meet fluther assessments on them. ''T e, therefore, most respectfully petition Congress to re-imburse our sairl company for 
th<' losses sustained from the said Indian outrages, believing our claim right and equi­
table, and that the Government will, in a few years, be amply remunerated by the de­
velopment of that district of the Territory, which will doubtless be the result of the 
rc hnihling our mill aml 'vorking the mines. 

The pritlCipal mine which we own, and upon which onr mill and buildings were 
erected, is known as the Bnlly Bueno mine, and is one of the best-known, and, we be­
lieve. one of the richrst in the Territory. 

PlliT...\DELl'IIL\ 1 I'EXXSYL,' .\XI.\1 Deeembe1· 27, 1871. 

J. G. FELL, 
EDWARD HOOPES, 
GEORGE BURNHAM, 

1'ntstees. 

HOUSE OF REPHF.SEXTATIYES, 
Washington, D. C., January 8, 1872 . 

. \.s goY em or of the Territor;y of Arizo11a, resident at Prescott at the time this com]Htny 
cnter·ed upon its important enterprise, I am familiar with many of the facts set forth 
in the foregoing statement. I am aware that the company, at heavy expense, brought 
to the Territory extensive and valuaulc machinery, and counted upon military protec­
tion in its efforts to develop one of the most promising gold-lodes; that said protec­
tion was not providctl, aml that for want of it the Indians, being active and increas­
ing in their hostilities, the company was c~mstantlY_ embarra~se.d in its operations, an.d 
ultimately sufferctl the complete loss of Its machmery, bmldmgs, &c., &c., at the1r 
hands. 

I'coni'itler the claim {or relief by Congress just and entitled to prompt consideration. 
~ R. C. McCORMICK, 

Delegate fi'om ..Arizona. 
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I know Mr. Fell personally, and Messrs. Hoopes and Burnham by reputation, so that 
I do not hesitate to commenu their statements as worthy of entire confidence, as they 
are all men of the highest business character and reputation. 

I am personally acquainted with Mr. Edwanl Hoopes and ·with ~Ir. Fell b;y reputa­
tion. Both of them arc eminent business men in Philadelphia, an'l stand high in the 
estimation of the people as business men of high character and nnimpcachal1le integ­
rity and veracity. 

IY. TOWXSEKD. 

From n personal knowledge of the gentlemen named in the a bovo memorial, I fully 
indorse their character for voracity, reliability, ancl moral standing. 

A. C. HAR~IEH. 

I concnr in all the foregoing, having personal knowledge of all the gentlemen namct1. 
W'~I. D. KELLEY. 

I am well acqnaintetl with the gentlemen who signe1l the aboYc petition. They arc 
among our best citizens in Philadelphia, and I ask for them the mo t intelligent an(l 
earnest conRideration. 

LEO:~ARD MYERS. 

I coucm in the testimony of Hon. L. :Myers. 
JOHN IY. HAZELTOX. 

A residence, as a member of the jn<liciary of Arizona, of more tl1an two antl a ha 1£ 
of the last three years, part of the time at and near Prescott, proximate to the \Valnut 
Grove mine, above described, enables me to say that nearly all the facts statecl in the 
foregoing memorial are true and of "public notoriety" in that Territory, man3r of the 
said facts having passed tmder my official scrutiny. Long residence in this city, ancl 
intimate personal acquaintance with the above-named memorialists, <>nablo me also to 
say that they arc, without exception, men of unquestionable integrity and respecta­
bility, and I take pleasure, therefore, in thus recommending their memorial, ns above 
presented, to the most favorable consideration of the Federal Government mul its 
officers. 

JOHN TI'lTS. 
PmL.\DELPIIL\.1 September 26, 1872. 

0. 

[For Exhibit 0 Fe~ "Sche lule of prnperty," &c., on pngo 2.] 

P. 

PRESCOTT, AniZOXA, July 16, 1869. 
Gm\TLE:\IEX: I ha...-c to report that on the morning of the 9th instnnt, at nbout 2 

o'clock, the Indians made an attack on us at the Bully Bueno mine. I had a night­
guard of two men in the mill, but before they could give the alarm the Indians l1ad 
set fire to the mill and two other buildings, by piling up shavings from the shingle-shop 
against the outside of the three buildings. There was a large pile of sha...-ings where 
we had been making shingles; these the Indians piled against the buildings, auu fired 
them l1efore the guard discovered their presence. \Ve made every effort to sn>e the 
property and resist the attack, and about sunTise we discovered that the Indians 
were in snch large force that it was impossible to resist them, and we eonclnded to 
abandon the premises. Tho men scattered in all directions, some taking refuge at 
Walnut Grove aml others at Prescott. I went to Prescott, and on the 12th employed 
six men to accompany me to the mill, where I found everything in ruins ; the mill, 
all the hous<>s, wagons, harness, hay, ancl grain burned up, nothing left but some of the 
heavy machinery. \Ve remained two days at the ruins and took an inventory of the 
pro1)erty that was not destroyed, which consisted of one mortar, t'venty stamps, 
twenty-three flies, seven stamp-stems, one spur-wheel, sixteen cams and cam-shafts. 
All the bnlanee of the machinery was entirely ruined. The three boilers "·ere broken 
in two mul haclly smashed. The copper plates, engine, saws, bcWng, aml nll the 



20 WALNUT GROVE GOLD-MINING COMPANY. 

smaller machinery were completely destro;yed. I do not think that any of the ma­
chinery can be used for any purpose except that above enumerated, ancl probably 
a great deal of that cannot be made serviceable. \Vhen we rebuild the mill I think 
it would be better to have everything new, and not depend on any of the above­
mentioned machinery, as I do not believe it will be true and in working order. I will 
leave here in a short time, and just so soon as I can 'vill be in Philadelphia and tell 
~-ou much better than I can write it. 

Yours, very respectfully, 
JAMES A. FLANAGAN. 

Me. srs. FELI., HOOPES & BURKIL<\.l\1. 

Q. 

PRESCOTT, AHIZOXA, ScjJiember 11, 1869. 

DE.\ll Sut: In the matter of Basham snit against your company, we had an ap­
praisement made of such property as ''as not destroyed by the Imlians at the Bully 
Bueno, as follows: 

20 stamps, at $150 ........................................... ___ ........ . 
1 mortar ............................ ___ ...... _ . __ .... __ .... __ .......... . 

~3s~~:r~\e~~; ~t · $4oo ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ : ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ :: ~: :::: :: : ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~: ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ·.:: ~:: 
1 spnr-"·heel ........................................................... . 
16 cams, at $100 .................................. · ......... ·----· ....... . 
1 can1-shaft .................. __ ............•............................ 

.,.·3, 000 00 
700 00 

1,150 00 
2,800 00 

~00 00 
1,600 00 

3 0 00 

Yours, very respectfully, 
10,530 00 

I. C. CFRTIS. 
G. II. YH'KROY, 

1502 Korth Elerenth St1·cct, Philadelphia. 

Know all men by these presents that 1, George H. Vickroy, of the Territory of 
Arizona, for and in consid.eration of the StUll of one dollar, to me paifl by Joseph Gil­
lingham Fell, Edward Hoopes, and George Burnham, all of the city of Philadelphia, in 
the State of Penns~·lvania, at the execution hereof, the receipt whereof is hereby 
acluwwledged, as also in consideration of certain other valuable inducements, agree­
ments, mal stipulations, now entered into between the said grantor and grantees, have 
granted, bargained, sold, released, and confirmed, and by these presents do grant, bar­
gain, sell, release, and confirm, unto the said Joseph G. }<~ell, Echvanl Hoopes, and 
George Bm'nham, and the survivors and survivor of theni, and the heirs and assigns of 
each ~:;nrvivor, all the estate, right, title, interest, liroperty, claim, and demanu what­
soever which I, the· said George H. Vickroy, have or hold in and to all those certain 
mining rights, discovery claims, and privileges on the southwestern quartz-lead, and 
the pre-emption claim to a ranch (160 acres) and \ts appurtenances on Hassayampa 
Creek, situated in the \Valnut Grove mining district, in said Territory of Arizona, said 
discovery claims and extensions amounting in all to fifteen hundred feet, as the same 
are rcconled in the recorder's office of said tlistrict and Territory, or assigned to me b;y 
other partie , in the following books and pages, viz, discovery claim in my name, of 
date May 19, 1864, Book A, page 20 j also claim in my name, May 19, 1864, being exten­
sion of a hove, recorded in Book A, page 20; assignment of thrdr claims to me by James 
C. Neil, \Yilliam Smith, and H.. I. Osburn, tlatetl May 28, 1864, recorded in Book A, 
1>age 25, together with all my title to the sai<l lands, hereditaments, and appur­
tenances, to hold all of said lands, mining rights, minerals, and lH'iYileges, unto the said 
Joseph G. Fell, E(lward Hoopes, and George Burnham, the sm·vivors and survivor of 
them, aml the heirs and assigns of such survivors, forever. 

In 'vitness " ·hereof I, the said George H. Vickroy, have set my hand and seal this 
first da~- of November, in the year of our Lord one thonsaml eight hundred and si:s:ty­
fonr. 

, 'caletl all(l deliveretl iu lH'CSt'uce of us­
CIIA's HnoADS. 
E. \V. BAILEY. 

STATE OF PEXXSYJXA..."\'J.\ 1 City of Philadelphia: 

G. H. YICKROY. [I-. s.] 

Before me, E. H. Bailey, notary public for the commonwealth of Pt'nnsylvania, duly 
commissioned and sworn, resitling in the city of Philadelphia, personally appeared 
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George H. Yickroy, :nul acknowledged the al>ove aml foregoing deed to l>e his free act 
and deed, an<l deHires the same recorded as such. . . 

In testimony whereof I ha>e hereunto set my hand and affixed my notanal seal tln 
1st day of November, A. D. 1864. 

[L. s.] E. H. BAILEY, 
Kotary Public. 

Whereas George II. Vickroy, l>y the anne:sml assignment, <lated the 1st day of No­
Yemher la . t past, (1864,) did grant and convey unto Joseph G. Fell, Edward Hoopes, 
and George Hmnham, and the survivors and survivor of them, and the heirs and 
assigns of such smvivor, all tho estate, right, title, interest, property, claim, and de­
mand whatsoever of him, the said George H. Vickroy, of, in, and to all those certain 
mining rights, discovery claims, aml privileges on the southwestern guartz-leacl, and 
the pre-emption claim io a ranch (160 acres) and its appm·tcnances on Has~?ayampa 
Creek, situated in the ·walnut Grove mining district, in the Territory of Arizona, said 
discoYery claims and extensions amounting in all to fifteen hundrecl feet, as the same 
are recorded in the recorder's office of said district and Territory, or assigned to him 
by other parties, in the following l>ooks and pages, viz: discovery claim in his name, of 
date .May 19, 1864, Book A, page 20; also claim in his name, May 19, 1864, l>eirig exten­
fiion of above, recorded in Book A, page 20; assignment of their claims to him l>y 
James C. Neil, "'William Smith, and R. I. Osburn, dated May 28, 1864, recorded in Book 
A, page 25. 

Now, therefore, know all men l>y those presents that they, the said Joseph G. Fell, 
Edward Hoopes, and George Bmnham, do hereby acknowledge, testify, and declare, 
and do, for themselYes respectively, their respective heirs, executors, and administra­
tors, coYcnant, promise, and agree to and with the persons forming a certain associa­
tion known ns the ·walnut Grove Gold-Mining Compan~T' of Arizona, that they, the 
Raid Joseph G. Fell, Edward Hoopes, and George Burnham, have taken and accepted 
the said assignment and transfer of mini.JJg rights and privileges, and do stand seized . 
thereof in trust for the sole use and behoof of the said association or mining company, 
and that they, the said trustees, and the survivors and survivor of them, or the heirs 
and assigns of such survivor, shall and will grant, conYey, and assure the said mining 
rights and clai.Jns, and all their estate therein, unto the said association or company, so 
!'loon as the same shall l>e duly incorporated according to law by its proper corporatf' 
name aml title, for the general usc and benefit of all the stockholders therein, accord­
ing to their respectiVe proportions of capital invested therein. 

In \Yitness whereof the said parties to these presents have hereunto sot their hands 
mul seals this twenty-second clay of Deceml>er, in the year of our Lord one thousand 
eight hundred aiHl sixty-fom, (1864.) 

\Yitnes ' present: 
C. D. Cor.LA1M Y. 

J. G. FELL. [L. s.] 
ED"WARD HOOPES. [L. s.] 
GEORGE BURNHAM. [L. s.] 

On the 22<1 day of December, A. D. 1864, before me, the ~uhscriber, a notary pul>lie 
in and for the State of Pennsylvania, residing in Phil::t<lelphia, personally appeared the 
above-named Joseph G. Fell, Edwa-nl Hoopes, and Ge<;>rg~ Burnham, and in due form 
of law acknowledged tho above and foregoing declaration of trnst to be their act and 
deed, aml desired the saute as such might be recon.led. 

\Yitnl'ss my hanll and official seal the day and ~·car aforf'saill. 
[L. H.] C. D. COLLADAY, 

.Xotw·y Pnblic. 

Edwar<l lloopt>s, of Philadelphia, one of the trustees of the ' 1 \Valnut Grove Gohl­
}!ining Company, of Arizona," deposes and says: That inN oveml>er, 1864, when the 
said company was organized, hernade the purchases-dry-goods, groceries, boots, shoes, 
hlankets, tools, &c.-in Philadelphia, l>y direction and authority of said company, and, 
as disl.nu·Hing agent for the same, paid for the said goods when purchased. 

He further states that the bills for said goods were sent to Arizona, and reported to 
he tlcstroyed at the time their l>uil<.lings wore l>urned and other property destroyed in 
Arizona, in Jnly, 1869, and, therefore, he cannot furnish an itemized account of said 
purchases; and as several of the houses from whom the goods were purchased have re­
tire<l from business, he iR unable to tluplicate said bills : l>ut finds, in referring to his 
en ·h ac('onnt, that tlH' total amount of saitl disbursements was $16,156.14, all of which 
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were shippe<l to Le:wcn1Yortlt, Kansas, ·where their teams were outfitting. He further 
states that it \Yas the determination of the company, at its organization, to furnish 
whateYer of snpplies tltat should be necessary to successfully prosecute their mining 
enterprise. And he further states that each aml eyery call upon them by their agents 
in charge for supplies \Yas promptly respondetl to ; and he knows, from havh1g con­
ductetl the correspondence with the agents of said company in Arizona, that said sup­
ply of goods ''"as, from time to tinw, largely nngmente<l tlaring the four years they 
were prosecuting theh mining operations. 

J~D\V~\RD HOOPES. 
STATE OF PK'\XSYLY.\XL\, 

City and County of Pltilwlclphi({, 88: 

I, C. E. Morgan, jr., a notnry 1mblic of t1JC State of PeuusylYania, rcsitlino- in the 
aforesaid city and county, do hereby certify that Edwanl Hoopes, who subscribed to 
the foregoing affidavit, and affirmetl to the same personally, appeared before me, in 
Hai<l city and comtty, aml having firl'lt been dnly affinnc(l accordiug to law, did depose 
aud say that the fm·pgoing affitlaYit \\·as, in <•very resprct. jnst and true. 

EDWARD HOOPES. 

Affirmctl mttl snh,;crilwtl to lwfon• lllt' thi · 12th <lay of Angnst, A. D., 1873. 
[SEAL.] C. E. 1\IOl{GAN, Jn., 

~Yotary Public. 

s. 

I, EDWA.HD ,V. UtH'FL'\1 nm forty-eight yenrs of ag(', anll rcHitle at Glendale, Camden 
County, Tew Jersey. 

In the years 1866 and 1t'G7 I \nl;; :-;nperintemlent of the 'Yalnut Groye Goltl-)Iining 
Company, of ATizona. 

To the hest of my knovdetlgP thr followi11p; sums of monry were furnished by the 
company mul expentletl by me for their purposes tlnring m~· connection ·with it: 

June, 1866, eleyen thonsaml tlollnr::; .. ---· -·-- ____ ·--··· ·-··-· ·--·--· ------
October, 1866, seventPen thousand tin• lnmtlre<l dollars .. __ ._ ............ . 
December, 1866, six thousand dollars .................................... _ 
February and March, 1867, two thousaml ftYe hundred dollars ............ . 
May, 1867, sixty-fonr thousand seven lmmlred aml fifty dollars._. ___ . __ . __ 
An gust, 1~67, tlel•t · tlne mHl contractetl hy m<'. __ .. _ ... __ .. ___ . _ .• __ •..• _. 

$11,000 00 
17,500 00 

G,OOO 00 
2,500 00 

64,750 00 
2o,OOO 00 

127,750 00 

E. ,V. COFFIN. 

Sworn awl suhsm·ibetl l1efore nw this 4th day of :March, 1 7:3. 'Vitness m~~ hand and 
the seal of tlw snpr<>me· cot•rt of P(•mtsylvania, at Philadelphia, this 4th clay of March, 
A. D. 1873. 

[SEAL.] . 

T. 

.JAMES noss NOWDEN, 
Prothonotary. 

'VIGGO )1. JEXSEX tlqwses alHL sH,\'i'l that he i::; :3-! years of age, and a practical miner 
by profession. 

That from the year 1859 to the year 1869 he was engaged as a mining expert a por­
tion of the time, and superintendent of three large miniug entcrpTises the balance of 
that time, in the mining districts of California and NeYada, aml that he is well 
acquainted with the cost of working and operating gold aucl silver mines, tbe kind 
of machiner~- requisite, and lmiltlings necrssary to successfully carry on mining oper­
ations. 

He further statPs that he \"isited Arizona, in the spring of 11:l69, for the purpose of 
examining the gold-mines in the vicinit:r of Prescott, and at the Bully Bueno mine 
on Turkey Creek, 16 miles from Prescott, he saw the extensive woTks belonging to the 
'Valnut Grove Gohl-Mining Company, aml examined the mines antl the company' 
works; that the ores of this mine arc among the best he ever saw, and that the twenty­
stamp mill had all the modern improvements for desnlphurizing, panning, and saving 
gold, and which was inclosed in a building 160 feet front by 200 feet deep ; that there 
were 5 other buildings there belonging to the company-a store-house, 26 feet front ancl 
58 feet deep; a superintend(•nt~::; ltonHe, 30 fC'ct front and 4') fert deep; a boarding-house 
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26 feet front and GO feet tlcep; a blacksmith's, aml carpenter-shop, :nul ofti<'c. He fur­
ther sayJS that he has carefully cx:aminetl the printed schedule of prices to the propert~· 
destroyed by the Indians in 1!:369, above described, and as sworn to h~- G. H. Yickroy, 
(see Ex:. Doc., No. 95, Forty-second Congress, third session,) and knows of his o'vn knowl­
edge, that the prices stated in said schedule are not exorbitant; and further, that be doeB 
not believe that the buildings referred to and above described could h:Fe been placetl 
there by contract for the sum stated; and that he knows of many others, in other local­
ities, where the building-materials and other necessary appliances, the price of labor, 
provisions, &c., are quite as favorable, have cost largely in excess of the prices stated. 

He fm·ther says the machinery and fixtures referred to a.boyc were :first-class, an1l 
the buildings were snbf>tantial, anfl cwrythillg complctf' for r:nn-iug on large mining 
operations. 

DrsnucT OF Cou::m.nA, 
Tr'ashington Connty, 1:!1:!: 

On this 12th day of June, A. D. 18i3, 1Jefo1·c me, the suhsc1·ilJe1·, a justice of the peace 
in and for the county aforesaid, personally appeared Wiggo :M. Jensen, who, being 
sworn according to law, did depose and say that tl1e several statements contained in 
the foregoiug deposition, and hereto annexed, nrC' ;jnst nntl trnc to the best of hi!'> 
knowledge and belief. 

Sworn and snb~crihed hefore me. 
[tiEAI,.] 

l.I. 

· \Y. )I. JENSEN". 

.JOHX T. C. CLARK, .T. 1'. 

Beuj. F. Akers, of Lawr nee, Kaw;., upon being tlnly ~;wm·11, sa;ys: 
I have been enga,ged in freighting across the plains and dealing in mules all(,l horses 

for more than ten years. In Januar~', 1865, Geo. H. Vickroy, of Arizona, brought a 
large drove of mules from St. Louis to Leavenworth City, Kans., where I then resilletl, 
and rented my stable and corral. During the tinle he was preparing to start for Ari­
zona, nearly two months, he kept his mules in my stable and corral, and I saw them 
nearly every clay. He had about two hundred an(l sixty mules. I was at that time 
buying mules, and was familiar with the prices. I do not think I ever saw as fine a 
lot of mules, and know· they would have sold readily for from two hundred to two lnm­
llrctl and fifty dollars each in LeaYenworth at that timt'. I do not think there was a 
mule in the train that would uot bring at anction hYo hnwlretl dollar:;;. 

B. F. AKERS. 
DIRTRICT 01!' COLU:\iBIA, 

County of Washington, ss: 
~worn to aml subscribetl before lllC', thi~'> 2bt fla~- of 1[arclt, A. D. 18n. 

Y. 

JOH~ H . .JOHN, ON, [SEAL.] 
.Justice of the Peace. 

I, Bodine' Peterson, am 33 year,; of age, and at lH'CSt'JLt resitln at the corner of 11th 
an<l11t. Vernon st1eets, Philadelphia. In the summer of 1866, I was in Prescott, Ariz., 
and was Pmployed by :Major Coffin, superintendent of the \Valuut Gro>e Gold­
Mining Company, to assist in the erection of a1 20-stamp quartz-mill on Tm·key 
Ureek in that Territory. The mill had been brought into the Territory by Mr. Geo. I:i. 
Vickroy. I remained in the employment of the compan~r OYt>r a year, clurino· which 
time the Indians were very troublesorut', anll the company suffered heayy los~es from 
the coustm;t interruption of their business, hcsicles the immense loss sustained by the 
killing aml running off of their live stock. A number of the employes of the company 
were killetl in the <Lis~harge of their duty while I was PmployNl by the company, anil 
oth<:rs before I 'iY~nt mto the c?tmtry and aftC'r I left it. I know that military pro­
tection wa~ pronused the snpermtcndeut, but, to my kuo"·ledge, he nc,·cr sticceeded in 
ol>taining it in a single instance. 

I was not in a position to enable me to know the amonut of loss snstninetl by the 
compau~-, bnt it must haYe been very heavy, ancli amC'ntirel~·satistic<lif the promised 
military protPction hatl bf:'C'n furnished, the greater part or all of it could have been 
aYoitled, ~nul th' ruin· (whith is doubtless YPry rich) woHlcl hase been operated to a 
pn>ilt. 



24 WALNUT GROVE GOLD-MINING COMPANY. 

The mill and necessary buildings were entirely finished ~tncl really to commence 
operations when the last train of wagons and materials were brought in by Major 
Coffin, bnt unfortunately the whole herd of animals were driven off by the Indians 
and the herders killed. Soon after that I left the employment of the company and 
returned to California,; soon after which the Indians burned the mill andllestroyecl 
the entire property of the company. 

STA"l'E OF NEW JERSEY, 
Carnclen County, 88: 

BODINE C. PETERSON, 

Sworn and subscribed to before me, clerk of the court of common pleas of sai<.l 
c?unty, as witness my hand and ofticinl seal this third clny of March, anno Domin 
mghteen-hunclrecl and seventy-three. 

STATE OF MISSOURI, 
Connty of Saint Lot~i8, 88: 

\V. 

JOHN \V. CAIN, 
Clerk. 

I, John B. Slack, of Saint Louis, Mo, agccl fifty-three year:,;, by occupation a carpen­
ter and builder, upon being sworn before the clerk of the county court of Saint Louis 
County, state as follows: 

I joined the mnle-train of the Walnut Groye Gold-l\fining Company, at the Point of 
Rocks, six miles from P.rescott, Ariz., about the 15th of September, 1865, and assisted 
in making the road from there to the Bully Bueno mine, where I then resided. After 
arriving at the mine we immediately commenced preparations for the erection of the 
20-stamp quartz-mill, saw-mill, and other bniluiugs. I took the contract for getting 
out all the timber for both mms, and a;ftcr filling my contract I continued in the em­
ploy of the company nearly four years, until the mills and other buildings were burned 
by the Indians in July, 18159. 

I haye examined the schedule of property destroye(l, filed by. the compm1~~ in printed 
Executive Documents, No. 95, Forty-second Congress, third session, and can say posi­
tively that the charge for buildings is not exorbitant. I went to California in 1849, 
and remaine(l in the mining (listricts of the Pacific coast until1871, and am familiar 
with the cost of erecting buihlings and m~chinery, and i.u no instance in an experience 
of 22 years have known a 20-st::tmp mill inclosed in :1 suitable building as that was, at 
a cost as little as $118,000. 

All the buildings in said schedule are estimated at less than the selling price of the 
lumber in them, ::mel had this compa,ny's affairs been manage(l wit.h the usual pTodigal­
ity practiced in mining countries, the cost of the buil<.lings wonhl have been two or 
three times greater. 

In addition to the economy nse<l, the company brought with them from the States 
their own teams, tools, ancl supplies, ancl many of their workmen, which together 
with the saw-mill enabled them to do their woTk for easily one-half what it would 
have cost if they had given it out by contract. 

I was on the ground during most of the time of their operations in Arizona, and feel 
safe in saying from my own personal knowledge, that theiT claim as itemized in said 
schedule is just and reasonable, aiHl. can name more than fifty mills in California and 
Neva<.la having no better or no more extensive machinery, and with fewer out-build­
ings and those inferior to the houses ~Lt the Bully Bueno, which haYe cost from double 
to five times the amount claimed by th.e Walnut Grove Gold-Mininp; Company. 

JOHN B. SLACK. 

Subscriued and sworn to Lefore me, this eighth clay ofNoYember, 1873. 
[SEAL.]. F. C. SCHOENTHALER, 

Clerk Couuty Court. 
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